6th Policy Dialogue Forum of the International Task Force on Teachers for EFA

The Management of Teacher Education – Trends in Policies and Practice: What works, why and for whom?

Kinshasa, DRC, 27th – 28th November 2013



26-29 November 2013 - Kinshasa - DR Congo

Bob Moon Emeritus Professor of Education The Open University (UK)

General rapporteur

r.e.moon@open.ac.uk

Contents

Acknowledgements	2
List of acronyms and abbreviations	2
Executive Summary	3
Introduction	5
Official opening ceremony	8
The thematic groups of the forum	11
The work of Sub-theme 1 Teacher education: structures, contents, outcomes.	11
Sub-theme 2 Attracting and retaining teachers	14
Sub-theme 3 Equity and teacher education management	16
Sub-theme 4 Teacher education management in Post-conflict and Post-Disaster	
(PCPD) contexts	18
A note on the 'Market Place' sessions	21
RECOMMENDATIONS	22
The Programme	27
Participants List	32

Acknowledgements

Members of the forum, during the closing session, expressed their gratitude to the Government and People of the Democratic Republic of Congo for the significant commitment involved in hosting the Task Force meetings and the forum. Members of the forum extended their appreciation to the Secretariat of the Task Force for the very effective way they had prepared, coordinated and implemented the forum programme. Congratulations were also extended to the facilitators and presenters who had made such a significant contribution to the forum.

List of acronyms and abbreviations

ACDE African Council for Distance Education

AfDB African Development Bank

CEART Joint ILO/UNESCO Committee of Experts on the Application of the

Recommendations concerning Teaching Personnel

CAMFED Campaign for Female Education

CCEPT Centre Congolaise d'Education Pour Tous
CPD Continuing Professional Development
DFI Department for International Development

DRC Democratic Republic of the Congo

EFA Education For All

EI Education International EPT Education Pour Tous

GCE Global Campaign for Education
GMR Global Monitoring Report

HPPC Humana People to People Congo

IFADEM Francophone Initiative for Distance Teacher Education

IIEP International Institute for Educational Planning

ILO International Labour Organisation

INEE Inter-Agency Network for Education in Emergencies

NGO Non Governmental Organisation
ODL Open and Distance Learning

PACTED Pan-African Conference on Teacher Education in Africa

PCPD Post-Conflict, Post-Disaster

SACMEQ Southern and Eastern Africa Consortium for Monitoring Educational Quality

TESSA Teacher Education in Sub-Saharan Africa Programme
TISSA Teacher Training Initiatives in Sub-Saharan Africa

TMIS Teacher Management Information System
TVET Technical and Vocational Education and Training

UNCRPD United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities

UPE Universal Primary Education
VSO Voluntary Service Overseas

Executive Summary

57.2 million children worldwide are still not in primary school. In developing countries education systems continue to grow to meet UPE targets. The need for additional teachers parallels this expansion. An additional 6.8 million new teachers will be needed by 2015, 75% to replace teachers retiring or leaving the workforce, 25% in addition to current teacher numbers. Key stakeholders and the policy community generally, are giving increasing attention to recruiting these additional teachers. There is also a growing and urgent concern about the effectiveness of teachers to improve the performance of schools and provide expanded educational opportunity for all children.

This sixth policy dialogue focused on the management of teacher education through an analysis of trends in policies and practices. The aim was to seek out what appeared to be working, why this was the case and who benefited. The management of teacher education interfaces with a range of other concerns; teacher status, financial disbursement and teacher deployment policies, for example, all impact on the preparation of teachers and their continuing professional development. The policy dialogue attempted to take a broad view of the landscape of teacher education. It did so through examining four themes

- teacher education: structures, contents, outcomes
- attracting and retaining teachers
- equity and teacher education management
- teacher education management in Post-Conflict, Post-Disaster (PCPD) contexts

The forum divided into four parallel groups to discuss each theme. A number of common issues were identified. The need to reform initial teacher education to provide a stronger focus on practical work and classroom effectiveness was discussed in all groups. The importance of reconceptualising professional development away from a reliance on out of school courses (seen as expensive and ineffective) towards more diverse, school focused, provision was considered in some detail. The forum received presentations on how data about the recruitment, retention and education of teachers was being collected and there was general acceptance of the need to further strengthen these processes. Such data was seen as essential to the development of interventions to make teaching a more attractive occupational choice, an issue that was considered in depth in the forum. The need to review the content and delivery of teacher education to ensure teacher knowledge, skills and understanding of issues of equity (broadly defined) was seen as an urgent issue for the managers of teacher education to address. The forum also heard different accounts of the role teacher education could play in PCPD contexts. Such accounts, it was felt, needed to be drawn on in the development of strategic guidance to governments and other agencies that have to respond to these, always harrowing, situations.

The forum, having reviewed the presentations and group discussions, identified ten priority recommendations for action by the Task Force and/or by other key stakeholders concerned with teacher education. The reform of initial teacher education, the rethinking of professional development, the monitoring of interventions to improve the working lives of teachers, the needs of women teachers in rural areas and the issues associated with policy choices about 'language of instruction' were five recommendations focussed on improving teacher effectiveness and quality of life. The need for the systematic collection and reporting of data on teachers and the support that could be given to governments in doing this, and developing teacher policies as a consequence, made up a further two recommendations. Two recommendations were developed from the accounts of working in PCPD situations. Finally the forum recommended that a dialogue should be established with the funders of research to attempt to raise the issue of teacher effectiveness higher on the research agenda.

Introduction

57.2 million children worldwide are still not in primary school. At present, with 2010 education data and population projections, the global demand for new teachers is estimated at **6.8 million** all of whom need to be recruited by 2015 in order to meet the UPE goals. Of these 6.8 million, 75% are due to attrition in the teaching force (caused by retirement, illness, another job,) and 25% involve new teaching posts. Progress towards UPE entails not only giving children access to and enrolment in primary school, but also ensuring they complete the full primary cycle. In addition to the large number of teachers required there is also the issue of the quality of their education and training. Qualified and well resourced teachers, with a sound initial training and good professional development opportunities can make a significant difference to children's lives. Well educated children, able to grow and achieve their potential, widen social and employment opportunities in ways that contribute to making societies more equal, just and sustainable. Everyone fortunate enough to go to school remembers the good teacher.

It is clear, in the quest for universal UPE that much remains to be done. There is the challenge to reach the children not in school. There is also the significant task to ensure that, once in school, children receive a good quality education. The UNESCO GMR for 2013-14 describes and analyses the estimated 250 million children in school but not reaching the basic levels of attainment that could be expected of them. Many of these children are from the most disadvantaged communities. There is now evidence that improved teaching methods can make a significant difference to learning and to the child's life chances. The quality of teachers and teaching really matters. The management of teachers and teacher education, in this context, becomes a key policy concern.

The discussions in Kinshasa aimed to articulate the importance of teachers across the pre and post 2015 EFA debate. The International Task Force on Teachers for EFA aims to position teachers as a crucial cornerstone of the EFA goal to ensure every child has an *education* characterised by equity and quality.

Five previous policy dialogues, organized by the International Task Force on Teachers for EFA, have explored the following themes:

- 1. "Teachers, the financial crisis, and the EFA challenge of reaching the marginalized" Addis-Ababa (Ethiopia, 22-23 February 2010)
- 2. "Providing teachers for EFA: quality matters" Amman (Jordan, 6-7 July 2010)
- 3. "Ensuring Equity in Country Policies and Practices for Providing Quality Teachers toward Achieving the EFA Goals by 2015" Bali (Indonesia, 13-15 September 2011)
- 4. "Teachers challenges for EFA in India" (with global perspectives) New Delhi (India, 29-30 May 2012)
- 5. "Three Years of Global Partnership to Address the Teacher Challenge Three Years from the 2015 EFA Benchmark: Achievements and Perspectives") Windhoek (Namibia, 28-29 November 2012

The 6th Policy Dialogue forum aimed to build on the dynamics generated from the previous ones, and takes one step further looking specifically into the core of teacher education at the junction between policy and practice. This was the reason for the choice of theme Teacher Education Management: what works, why and for whom? The management of teacher education has considerable bearing on the number of qualified teachers recruited and deployed. Teacher education plays an important role in determining the quality of the teaching force and by extension, the quality of education. It has the potential to ameliorate or to exacerbate inequalities and exclusion in providing access to quality education. It has implications for teachers' status and professional careers. The management of teacher education involves various actors (e.g. education policy makers, teacher educators, teachers – current and future – learners, curriculum developers, communities and researchers). The management of teacher education has cost implications for national and global education finance. It also links different dimensions of education processes, settings and outcomes. There are a wide range of patterns and trends in the policy and practice of teacher education as well as in its management. These need to be documented and analyzed in order to more accurately tailor and target relevant education reform.

The Task Force sought, in this its 6th Policy dialogue forum, to build a process that scrutinized, from different perspectives, key dimensions of teacher education management. The aim was to build consensus on shared information relevant to the knowledge, experience and needs of all those participating and from this to develop a series of key recommendations for taking forward the work of the Task Force.

The objectives of the Policy Dialogue Forum in Kinshasa were:

- 1. To share knowledge and experience on what works, why and for whom as relevant to policies and practices of teacher education management
- 2. To reach consensus on main conclusions and recommendations for action to be jointly pursued at a national, regional or global levels in relation to the management of teacher education.
- 3. To identify ways of enhancing collaboration and partnerships among stakeholders at a national, regional and global levels in what pertains to teacher education management.

Structure of the forum

The forum was constituted around three elements

- an opening ceremony and presentation by experts from the Democratic Republic of the Congo
- four thematic extended discussions with linked plenary sessions that fed back to the whole forum the main issues raised and the recommendations being considered
- a 'market place' for the further exchange of ideas

These elements will be used to structure this final forum report.

Official opening ceremony

The forum was formally opened by His Excellency Mr Maker Mwangu Famba, Minister of Primary, Secondary and Vocational Education for DRC. In attendance was The Minister for Gender, Women and the Child, Mrs. Geneviève Inagosi Kasongo.

The Minister for Primary, Secondary and Vocational Education spoke of the importance of teachers to the success of Education For All policies and he called for the strengthening of partnerships and cooperation to address common challenges. He expressed the view that we needed to move beyond the rhetoric for change and put in place practical actions that improved the quality of schooling and children's learning. He reiterated the commitment of the government of DRC to making significant improvements and he referred to the policy and practical measures in place to achieve this.

Mr David Atchoarena, Director of the UNESCO Division for Teacher Development and Higher Education, representing UNESCO's Director-General, followed and referred to the extensive programme of work that UNESCO has in place to support the quest for UPE and he reiterated the importance of teachers in this process. This view was supported by Mr. Martial De Paul Ikounga, the Commissioner for Human Resources, Science and Technology of the African Union Commission who provided a message of support to the forum. Mr Dankert Vedeler, taking up the role of Joint Chair of The Task Force, stressed the importance of teachers to the success of UPE, most crucially, in ensuring that the education provided was of a quality to match international standards and expectations. He spoke of the work of the Task Force and the way it had contributed to raising awareness of the significance of teachers in the policy community generally. Mr Edem Adubra, Chief of Section of The International Task Force on Teachers, then set out the purposes and structure of the forum and he emphasized the importance of the outcomes of the forum for the future work of the Task Force.

Presentations by experts from the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC)

Well educated and trained teachers were seen, by DRC, as the most important factor in determining the success of the child in school. In DRC teacher education and training programmes existed at all levels in the system. However, there were a number of problems and challenges. In the pre-school sector, where 58.3% of provision comes from the private sector, the education and training of teachers was only slowly developing. No formal, official training programme has yet been established. The work of the 'Centre Congolais d'Education Pour Tous (CCEPT), created in 1996 (and winner of the Prix Unesco-Hamdan in 2009) was mentioned. The centre had trained 2800 pre-school teachers since 2009.

At the level of the primary school four year courses through the 'École Normale' route represented the formal route into teaching. There was, however, very limited practical

experience in schools and although attempts had been made to rectify this, no system wide changes had yet been implemented. Recruitment to primary teaching courses was in decline. The work of Humana People to People Congo (HPPC), however, which was building 54 'Écoles Normales' in rural districts with a curriculum focused on practical and community experience, provided one point of optimism. This initiative, piloted in Mbankana, was on plan to roll out fully in the next few years.

At the level of the secondary school entrants to teaching are prepared through the university sector. Shortages exist in many subject areas, a situation exacerbated by the migration abroad of potential teachers, particularly during periods of internal conflict.

In-service professional development programmes for primary and secondary teachers are the responsibility of the national ministry but are delivered at provincial, local and school levels. . A national Institut de Formation des Cadres de l'Enseignement Primaire et Secondaire oversees the whole process. In order to widen access, and following international support, professional development has been boosted by l'Initiative Francophone pour la Formation à Distance des Maître (IFADEM). This initiative is also contributing to the building of ICT capabilities among primary and secondary teachers. The general overview of the situation in DRC also pointed to teacher education and training activity in the adult literacy sector. DRC was facing the considerable challenge in addressing the needs of 18 million adults who could not read, write or calculate.

The management of teacher education in DRC is framed by the constitution. Article 43 gives a right to free, basic education, Article 44 commits the nation to eliminating illiteracy and Article 45 is aimed at ensuring an equitable access to the different sectors of the education system. The national Ministry created in 2002 a 'Conseil Consultatif National de l'EPT', with a mission to take forward the EFA agenda. In 2004 a 'Direction de l'Administration' was formed with the task of coordinating and evaluating national plans for educational expansion and improvement. There have been a number of significant achievements, most notably in the expansion of provision. One thousand schools constructed or under construction. There has, however, not been a comparable improvement of quality indicators. Between 35% and 43% of pupils completing sixth grade have insufficient grasp of basic skills. The average test scores of fifth graders were 39.2% in French and 45.2% in Mathematics. A number of reasons were advanced to explain this situation. The long period of conflict, the weak governance structures and the poor quality of much of the teaching were each cited. The scale of the challenges facing DRC is daunting. In 2011-12 40,484 primary schools and 20,372 secondary schools made up the school system with 575,547 teachers. In this context DRC in the 'Plan Interimaire de l'Education 2012-14' had made teacher development a top priority.

The general position and status of teachers in DRC, it was suggested, could be described as precarious. What had once been a 'noble' profession with a firm standing in the social structure of the country was now very different. There were high levels of attrition in the teaching force

and particular problems of staffing rural schools existed across the country. The government of DRC has made a number of statutory interventions to improve the conditions of service of teachers, including salary improvements, but the challenge of recruiting and retaining good teachers remains a significant issue. For example the issue of equity continues to be a major concern. Currently only 12% of teachers are female. In some parts of DRC the figure was much lower. In education and other areas of public life women were under-represented, a fact acknowledged by the Président de la Republique in October 2013 when he announced a major plan to improve the participation of Congolese women in all sectors of national life.

The DRC has experienced high levels of conflict and the consequences are a dominant feature of the contemporary educational landscape. One presentation spoke of

- the destruction of the school infrastructure
- the uncontrollable dispersion of teachers and other education personnel
- the acute dangers arising from sexual violence, problems of infection and epidemics
- the psychological problems of trauma across so much of the population especially children

It is estimated that 5,432,470 people have been internally displaced by conflict with all the consequences this brings for normal social life. The DRC has, as yet, not developed a national intervention strategy but the education system was having to deal with traumatised children and teachers. The DRC has, therefore, established a coordinated programme between the ministries with responsibilities for the restoration and rebuilding process. These ministries, assisted by a range of international organisations and agencies, were addressing the difficulties experienced by many countries expanding EFA provision but with the added dimension of doing so in a Post Conflict Post Disaster context.

Despite the scale of the challenges the presentations clearly indicated a number of growth points where strategies and practices were working successfully. These included the work on the preparation of pre- school teachers, the significant extension of teacher education and training provision, particularly in rural areas and the growing use of open and distance learning. The inter-ministry modes of co-operation also represented a new developmental phase in education policy that would be significant in the coming years.

The thematic groups of the forum

Sub-theme 1 Teacher education: structures, contents, outcomes. -

A number of contributions to this group indicated that a paradigm shift in teacher education was occurring on a global scale. There was now increasing evidence of course models moving from a traditional knowledge based approach towards a more experiential, practice focused perspective. This paradigm shift was leading to more school based and practice focused education and training in both initial and in-service professional development provision. There was an increasing emphasis on training that was focused on outcomes and the development of school and classroom competences. It was acknowledged that some countries, even regions were changing more slowly than others. However, all systems were becoming more responsive to the changed circumstances created by EFA expansion.

In many countries, as a number of presentations indicated, the education and training capacity was inadequate to meet the basic requirement to provide every teacher with pre-service training. In all countries the need for high quality in-service professional development programmes outstripped existing provision. This pressure of numbers was requiring policymakers to rethink the forms and modes of provision (as indicated in the earlier presentations from DRC). One participant suggested that the institutional structures of teacher education created for twentieth century needs (campus based residential provision) were being superseded by more pluralistic modes of provision, including a new emphasis on school based teacher development. But this change, he commented, was taking place too slowly.

The content, or the curriculum, of teacher education also had to respond to changed circumstances and new needs. A reliance on the disciplines of education as the organising framework for courses was being superseded by more experiential and practice focused models. This was particularly true for initial education and training. Whilst the insights, knowledge and research from the disciplines could still be drawn on they did not provide the framing principles of course design. Whilst the group saw this as a direction to follow they also acknowledged that many courses remained overly theoretical and failed to prepare for the ambitions and challenges of EFA.

The sub-theme discussion was focused around a number of case study presentations each of which, in different ways, reflected the paradigm shift referred to above. In India a clear national priority for education had been established by the Right to Education Act of 2009. The new Act requires the development of standards in the training of teachers, the training of all unqualified teachers within a 5 year period and the appointment of a body to lay down the minimum qualifications for becoming a teacher. In the period 2012-2017 the Indian national government was making the extension and improvement of teacher education a major policy focus. Central

government was funding 75% of the costs to individual states to improve teacher education. The release of such funds was dependent on states meeting some conditions of preparedness to take on this task. States, for example, had to ensure teacher education posts were filled. States were also advised to establish Monitoring Committees for Teacher Education. A national report on teacher education, the Justice Verma Commission Report was published in 2012 and sought to address some of the problems in the existing system. These included,

- developing institutional capacity given the scale of need and demand
- building quality criteria for programmes, including those using ODL approaches
- creating a significantly stronger cadre of teacher educators
- redesigning the teacher education curriculum to make it practice focussed, to include the importance of issues such as diversity and inclusion

One emphasis in the context of India was the importance of conceptualising teacher education as a 'lifelong' or 'career' long process. This thinking also informed the work of the Japan International Cooperation Agency. In a number of countries the agency has been supporting two major approaches to continuing professional development; a cascade approach with national trainers working through local networks and a school based approach with a strong emphasis on teacher collaboration to develop much more effective forms of lesson planning. Both approaches were based on a shift to practice and active forms of classroom focussed learning. Evaluation evidence showed that the different methodologies had changed the pedagogic practice of many teachers although it was difficult, at this stage, to see the extent to which this had been transposed into higher pupil achievement. One of the main findings was the importance of significantly strengthening the 'environment of support' around teachers through local and national actions, including actions similar to the strategies being developed in India.

In Senegal a government strategy developed for the period 2013-2025 was directly aimed at creating a structure to support teacher development. The plan has six major components, fully establishing the basic education sector, promoting public-private partnerships to promote teacher continuing professional development, giving a stronger evidence base to teaching and learning, decentralisation, improving teacher effectiveness and widening the use of the national language in the education system. The aim was to fully integrate initial and in-service education and training. The development of a resource base through the Universite Virtuelle de Senegal was contributing to this process. The development of these classroom focused practical resources, similar in structure to the Teacher Education in Sub-Saharan Africa (TESSA) programme, represented a development that, the group felt, required further attention.

A recurring theme in discussions was the issue of 'teacher ownership' of professional development. In this sub-theme the South African Democratic Teachers Union (SADTU) presented ideas about the need to drive teacher development from within the profession. The presentation set out some of the existing problems of in-service programmes. All the evidence, it was suggested, pointed to the lack of effectiveness of light touch, short term, professional development activities, currently the dominant model in most countries.

'if a 100 days of training of maths and science teachers in Limpopo could only improve the teachers average score in teachers' tests from 39% to 59% in maths and 31% to 39% in chemistry, what could one or two day training sessions hope to achieve'

SADTU had established the Curtis Nkondo Professional Development Institute (SCNPDI) which had the ambition to integrate short term and long term professional development programmes into a coherent structure with a focus on

- teachers driving their own professional development
- working through collaborative modes of enquiry
- building from evidence about practice
- teachers holding each other accountable for the quality of training
- making the link between training and pupil achievement

The shift in paradigms around teacher education and training also extended to the vocational sector although provision, as a UNESCO presentation on TVET in the Arab region suggested, was lagging behind the approaches that should flow from such a shift. The recruitment, retention, career management and quality of TVET teachers in the Arab region were being examined through a number of linked meetings and national research studies. The findings so far mirrored those for the schooling sector. A lack of capacity to provide adequate initial training, the incoherence and superficiality of professional development programmes, where such existed and the lack of a practical element in training are three exemplars of issues raised in the studies. In TVET there was a clear need for strategic planning including intergovernmental cooperation between small states to ensure adequate specialists support.

Some common messages appeared throughout the discussion. The paradigm shifts taking place in teacher education, particularly the move to a practice focus, was one such message. Allied to this, however, was the widespread concern that not all policy communities, and not all teacher education institutions, were aware of, or keeping pace with, the latest evidence and the most recent ideas about how to bring about changes in practice. The need for overall coherence through the management of career long professional development ought, the group felt, to be every government's strategic priority. The importance of providing new modes of professional development (including meaningful certification) should be worked through at governmental, regional, local and school levels. The need for policy makers and teacher educators to address the new demands of 'provision at scale' was seen as important. There was an acceptance that multiple modes of professional development were desirable provided they made sense to the teachers who were the recipients of the provision.

The discussion did recognize that the critiques of much current practice were repeating points made in previous policy dialogues. The need for a more practical focus to initial training and the need to reform in-service professional development had been highlighted before. Yet in this Kinshasa forum there was a sense that the evidence, including that from the sub-theme presentations, was now strong enough to exert considerable pressure on key policy and

practitioner stakeholders. It was also felt that it was the inter-related and coordinated actions between governments and key stakeholders that were necessary to make an impact on existing systems. In this respect work which provided deeper conceptualization and clarification of the key elements in the paradigm shifts, described above, would be of value, particularly when articulated with a strongly linked agenda for policy action.

Overall, in the analysis of this sub theme group, a number of strategies and practices that worked could be identified. These included the formulation of government led strategies for career long teacher professional development, the shift in teacher education to a more practice focused, school based approach, the incorporation of the professional needs of technical and vocational teachers into the mainstream of teacher education and the engagement of teacher unions in professional development activities. The group felt that there were now many examples of strategies and practices that worked. The challenge was to bring these together in an overall policy framework that could be made to work at scale and across systems as a whole.

Sub-theme 2 Attracting and retaining teachers

The discussions in this sub-theme addressed the challenge of how to make teaching a higher status profession, an occupation of choice, in countries where the status of teaching had been declining for many years. Whilst a few countries around the world (Finland for example) had been able to increase the status of teachers, the majority of countries had seen a decline. This was especially true in low income developing countries. The discussion focussed on some of the reasons for this

- low salaries
- poor career prospects
- poor administrative support to teachers (for example, salaries not paid on time)
- high pupil-teacher ratios leading to large class sizes
- poor living conditions (especially housing)

A presentation from the Republic of Guinea set out in some detail the problems associated with the role of teacher. In addition to the factors mentioned above other problems were elaborated. These included the sometimes conflictual relationships that existed between local education authorities and teachers, the lack of medical insurance and the perceived unfairness of promotion systems. The Republic of Guinea had sought to ameliorate these problems through strengthening the dialogue with teachers (evidence was presented that showed an improving satisfaction rate for teacher-government relations.)

Thus far these interventions had had little impact on teacher status and teacher recruitment and this year (2013) further research was being carried out to try and diagnose more deeply the problem and the governmental actions that could follow. One further point of interest from this presentation was The Republic of Guinea's decision to allow teachers to work until the age of seventy.

A similar picture of problems around teacher status emerged from a discussion of teacher conditions in South Africa where teacher unions were seeking to play a very active role to improve conditions and broaden recruitment. There were currently significant shortfalls, especially in the teaching of mathematics and science. Teacher shortages were contributing to a proliferation of multi grade teaching, particularly in rural areas. SADTU, a teachers union, was investigating the sorts of incentives, salary enhancement, housing for example, that could be put in place to make teaching in rural areas more attractive. Such incentives were perceived by SADTU as both a human and a labour right and should be at the centre of any collective bargaining agreements with employers. SADTU also believed that teacher education and training institutions needed to do much more to prepare students for working in resource challenged rural situations.

Work carried out by DFID was also reported in this sub-theme. A similar range of factors were set out to help explain the difficulties of attracting and retaining teachers. Career progression, motivation, pay and lack of support represented multiple but inter-related factors in trying to understand how teaching was viewed by the wider community. The image of teaching was not helped by poor community perceptions of teacher commitment. Absentee rates were high in some countries. In Uganda 40% of primary teachers were absent on any one day, the figures for Ghana and India were 27% and 25% respectively. The DFID response, working with national governments, aimed at building confidence to make teachers work more rewarding, providing support and incentives and building structures of mutual accountability. DFID has been working in Mozambique to develop incentive programmes for head teachers, in Zimbabwe to develop (with CAMFED) careers advice promoting teaching for girls and in India (with the UK Open University) to develop high quality resources to help classroom teachers.

In this sub-theme the issue of management was seen as crucial. UNESCO's IIEP had carried out a number of studies from which some important general points about management could be made. First whilst considerable attention was paid to managerial policy options and strategies some crucial aspects of teacher management are overlooked. It is taken for granted, it was suggested, that teachers should be accountable to their education system, but the reverse was rarely true. To what extent are education systems accountable to their teachers? Are teachers given the support they should receive? Are teachers working in conducive teaching and learning environments? The answer to both these questions was too often a rather resounding no. In some recent research 50% of teachers in one country were not paid on time. In SACMEQ countries research has shown that half of all pupils were in schools that needed totally rebuilding. Over the first part of this century, in the same region, there had been no year on year improvement in the conditions of schools. Other problems for teachers had also been identified. Inefficient teacher deployment systems, lack of textbooks for teachers to use and overcrowding were all mentioned as was the vagaries and unfairness of promotion procedures. Overall the evidence pointed to the need for

- improving management tools and coordination between ministries to address payroll problems
- ensuring, even where promotion opportunities are few, that the processes are transparent and open and that teachers in remote schools do not miss out
- reorienting the role of 'district education offices' towards a 'supporting' rather than 'administering' function
- strengthening procedures to regulate deployment and to ensure teachers have the tools (textbooks for example) to do the job
- the setting up of incentives for continuing professional development.

The discussion looked at recommendations to improve the resource and financial base for teachers. It was also agreed that more policy attention should be given to creating a social dialogue between teachers and other key stakeholders, building partnerships between stakeholders and addressing how a range of factors (including professional development) could contribute to stronger delimitation of career paths for those entering the teaching profession.

There were, in the view of the sub-theme group a significant range of practices that clearly worked and were capable of replication in other contexts. In summary these included

- the use of surveys and research to monitor the quality of teacher-government relations
- the raising of the teacher retirement age to help meet the teacher supply demand
- the use of donor resources to target specific teacher professional development needs
- inter-related reforms (methods of paying teachers, housing provision and so forth) to qualitatively improve teachers working lives, particularly in terms of the functions of local education offices

Sub-theme 3 Equity and teacher education management

An equity agenda, in the broadest sense, this group noted, was often reflected in national policy statements. This can extend, as in DRC, to constitutional provision. The sub theme noted, however, that on the issue of equity there was often a large gap between rhetoric or policy and changes on the ground. The sub-theme made clear that equity needed understanding in the widest possible way. Equity needed to embrace gender issues, but also disability, ethnicity, membership of minority groups, age, rurality and spoken language. The problems of achieving equitable systems for the management of teacher education often involved understanding the inter-relatedness of these different factors and this was a complex process requiring sustained investigations over time. Equity issues also impinged differently on the life of a teacher at different stages of a career. The processes associated with recruitment to initial teacher education would differ from appointments to a headship. Equity management had to be in constant in all aspects of the management of teaching and teacher education. In a presentation on the work in Benin, for example, it was reported that equal opportunities for promotions and

appointments existed between the sexes. There were, however, factors that impeded genuine equality (age stipulations for some jobs and qualification requirements were examples quoted).

The presentations to the sub-theme raised concerns about the extent to which the content of teacher education and training is responsive to the diverse classroom contexts in which most teachers work. Traditional models of initial teacher education were perceived as inadequate in responding to the equity agenda of most countries. Equally professional development programmes often gave only cursory and superficial exploration of equity issues such as disability or gender.

The sub-theme noted how good management of teacher education and programmatic interventions contributed to more equitable engagement of teachers. VSO described in some detail the Education Quality Improvement Programme in Tanzania (EQUIP-T) that had addressed the improvement of initial and in-service teacher education. The programme had reached over 70,000 student teachers and nearly 3000 teacher educators and inspectors. Funded by DFID, EQUIP-T had developed an inclusive monitoring and evaluation process. Important lessons had been learnt, particularly in terms of governance. In terms of programme management a national project of this kind needed, and had obtained, high level engagement in the steering group. The school inspectorate was closely involved. Within the technical team driving the project the aim had been to create an open and challenging atmosphere. In terms of programme implementation the establishment of a single office to coordinate partner involvement had been crucial as had the establishment of strong financial governance and compliance procedures. In some senses these seemed basic project management strategies but, it was felt, such basic skills and approaches were often missing in the management of teacher education.

The group was very aware of the importance of good data in approaching equity issues. The UNESCO Institute for Statistics is the main global source of data on teachers. A presentation set out the parameters within which they are currently working. At the level of absolute numbers the teacher shortfall is significant. Nearly a million extra teachers are needed by 2015 and the majority of these are needed in Sub-Saharan Africa. There are problems in estimating the numbers of qualified and unqualified teachers as definitions of 'qualification level' varies markedly between countries. The UNESCO Institute of Statistics, it was reported, is investigating this issue. A teacher training taxonomy questionnaire is being developed that should lead to international comparability on the structure and content of training and the qualification level such training would lead to. The existence of reliable data, capable of being used in a comparative way, was seen as essential to the issue of equity. Some of the key issues, such as building a teaching force that is representative of all groups within society, could only be carried forward if strong data was available. It was agreed that a holistic approach to monitoring the recruitment, deployment and retention of teachers was essential in the broadest sense of managing teacher education and in addressing specific issues raised by the equity agenda.

In this sub-theme discussion particular attention was given to the issue of 'language of instruction' and the impact this had on teacher effectiveness and pupil learning. The VSO Tanzania experience showed that the move from primary instruction in Kiswahili to secondary instruction in English disadvantaged many pupils. Numerous examples from other countries were quoted where choice of 'language of instruction' had disadvantaged certain social groups. The sub-theme group recognised that this was a complex issue; mother tongue was represented by tens or even hundreds of languages in some countries. It was considered important enough, however, to require more detailed investigation. The group noted as well that colonial vestiges in terms of implicit and explicit values could be identified in the contemporary debate about equity. It was seen as important to rigorously scrutinize the processes and structures of teacher education, including prevailing pedagogic orthodoxies, to tease out inequitable assumptions and practices.

Although there were many challenging tasks to be addressed the sub theme group felt that there were a number of working initiatives that could be drawn on in the development of policy. Examples included developing specific practices to ensure equal opportunities for women and men in respect of appointments and promotions, using monitoring processes within teacher education to check on equity issues, developing clear local governance structures to support new teacher education initiatives, the use of local languages in the teaching of the basic education phase and the development of comparable data around key aspects of teacher education as an aid to 'in country' policy reform.

Sub-theme 4 Teacher education management in Postconflict and Post-Disaster (PCPD) contexts

The opening forum presentations by representatives of the DRC provided one reference for discussion in this sub-theme. Greater detail was given in this sub-theme of the nature of the post conflict and post disaster situation in DRC and the attempts being made to address this particular challenge. These included

- providing specialist support for teachers working with children in trauma
- working alongside UNICEF to provide specific professional development activities for teachers working in camps for displaced people
- supporting the work of the Association for Social Development and Safeguarding of the Environment through geographically identified 'zones of intervention'

Accounts were also given of the situations in a number of other countries. In Angola, for example, national policies had been aimed at enrolling in school at least 80% of the children previously excluded by conflict. Between 2002 and 2008 the number of primary classes grew from one and three quarter million to just under 4 million and the number of teachers being

trained doubled in the same period to meet the supply needs of the expansion. Countries such as DRC and Angola were making education a focal point of post-conflict reconstruction.

A systematic approach to the post-conflict stabilization, developed by the Varkey Gems Foundation, was described in some detail. Building on experience in countries such as Uganda the Foundation through philanthropic and public private partnerships has created a three phase strategic approach to PCPD planning. Phase 1 involves the drawing up of a needs assessment plan orientated towards implementation priorities. Phase 2 addresses the most urgent needs (infrastructure, staffing) to ensure that schools can open. Phase 3 focuses on urgent transition needs once the schools are open (registration of staff and students, resource and textbook provision). Post Phase 3 an ongoing needs assessment process informs longer term sector development. Any Ministry of Education working within this framework could call on external support to create an education stabilization team with the task of implementing the different phases

The evidence from Uganda suggested that schools that had access to the processes of stabilization were performing significantly better than those outside the process. The involvement of the Head teacher was particularly significant. The experience of this work suggested a series of lessons for working in PCPD situations. These included

- ensuring the stabilization plan coherently integrates the work of NGO's (especially given the immediate influx of NGO's following the resolution of conflict or in the aftermath of disaster)
- focussing on long term planning for teacher stability.
- developing plans systematically in ways that are sustainable and not reliant on international support

and the lessons learnt from the experience in Uganda were seen as

- develop programmes that do not just depend on specific initiatives reliant on international aid
- be clear about the accountabilities of parties when developing partnerships
- have a clear knowledge and understanding of the geographical remits of NGO's and how they work specific programmes
- be very clear about the work conditions/contracts/expectations/training experience of teachers and other educational personnel involved
- put in place long term co-ordinated plans to secure teacher supply
- strengthen the 'upstream' and 'downstream' capacity of the ministries involved

Members of this sub-theme felt that this sort of approach offered possibilities for developing general guidance and advice that could be made available for governments needing to develop policies and strategies in PCPD contexts.

Participants to the sub-theme provided further evidence of the problems associated with poor co-ordination between government departments, agencies and NGO's in PCPD situations which could be overcome if the planning model developed in Uganda was more widely adopted.

A contribution from the Cote d'Ivoire drew attention to the need to plan for remedial and 'catch up' programmes for students who had missed significant periods of schooling. Another contribution from Mali stressed the importance of rethinking curriculum to focus on the most important 'minimum' teaching and learning needs.

The sub-theme discussion explored the wider conceptualisation of PCPD education and the implications for teachers. To what extent, for example, does the school curriculum and the teacher's pedagogic approach contribute to preventing the sorts of conflicts discussed by the group? There were many examples of peace education initiatives, citizenship education, human rights programmes and programmes with other names but all seeking to establish social cohesion. To what extent could general lessons for teacher education be drawn from these experiences? There were also 'within conflict' programmes from which lessons could be drawn. The sub-theme received a presentation describing a joint Arab-Israeli teacher education and training course that had been set up by Seminar Hakibutzim College of Education in Israel. Students from both Arab and Israeli communities came together to 'reinforce a culture of peace through education.' They worked jointly on a number of projects that reflected the ideas the UN 2001-2010 'International Decade for the Promotion of a Culture of Peace and Non-Violence for the Children of the World.' The subsequent sub-theme discussion pointed to the importance of initiatives such as this one and there was speculation as to how it could be replicated in other contexts.

The sub-theme discussion sought to summarise the presentations and debates. Four broad themes were identified as central to any strategic planning for PCPD. These were (i) the reestablishment of professional support for teachers (ii) the judicious deployment of teachers and careful remediation planning to ensure learners covered missed ground (iii) the modification of curriculum to take account of the type of support needed by child victims of PCPD and (iv) the rebuilding of school infrastructure.

The discussion emphasized the importance of governments governmental strategic planning. Presentations to the sub-theme had provided examples of the sorts of techniques and approaches that could be used, including

- the development of needs analysis frameworks
- the mapping of the involvement of all stakeholders and the establishment of a governance structure to support all activities and interventions
- leadership development to support programme implementation

The sub-theme recommended that further governmental support and guidance should be developed in the situations affected by conflict. The incorporation of strategies for disbursing

financial support was seen as of particular importance and the group felt that national planning by any country needed replication at the regional, local and school level. The group believed it was important to assert that good strategic planning in PCPD contexts and careful attention to the role teachers could play, often represented a 'life saving' process.

The discussion had brought out a number of examples of approaches and strategies that had worked and had strong potential if applied in other comparable situations These included the professional development interventions for teachers working with children in trauma, the phased approach to systematic planning to post-conflict stabilization, the creation of remediation programmes for children who had missed significant periods of schooling and the use of teacher training to bring together trainees and teachers from different communities experiencing conflict. All of these could be introduced into the explicit planning and coordination processes that the group felt were so essential in post-conflict situations.

A note on the 'Market Place' sessions

Between the group sessions and the closing plenary a number of optional 'market place' sessions were available to forum participants. These sessions provided participants with the opportunity to hear in more detail about

- the work of the UK based Voluntary Services Overseas (VSO)
- the programmes of activity developed by the UNESCO Institute of Statistics
- the teacher education and training work of Humana People to People

RECOMMENDATIONS

In making recommendations for action the forum was aware of the need to identify key teacher education management concerns with which the Task Force and the network of members (governments and other organisations, agencies) could realistically be expected to engage. One group leader pointed to the need 'to distil the essence of an issue and problem.' The recommendations, therefore, represent such a distillation of ideas and do not seek to comprehensively describe the full richness of the many insightful and stimulating presentations and contributions within each of the sub-themes. In making the recommendations the forum also took account of the remarks of joint chair of the Task Force at the opening ceremony when he pointed to the need to direct action on issues that would make a significant difference to the recruitment, retention and education of teachers.

The recommendations, ten in all and drawn from a synthesis of group reports and plenary presentations, are focused on issues that the forum deemed of major importance. The investigation and further analysis would, participants believed, contribute to the creation of a stronger social dialogue between the key stakeholders involved in the management of teachers and teacher education

A number of the groups suggested specific approaches to investigations, research and enquiries into these different issues. This set of recommendations does not attempt to prescribe the methodology that might be adopted, seeing that as an issue for the Task Force members and Secretariat. The recommendations do identify areas where evidence needs collection and synthesis (perhaps through the bringing together of existing research evidence). Such evidence would need to include judgments about any capacity building requirements as well as the criteria by which a clear articulation of 'effectiveness' could be established. The recommendations are aimed at a further deepening of the evidence based approach of the forum, namely 'what works, why and for whom?'

The recommendations are set out below with a brief commentary that gives further background on the forum deliberations.

Recommendation 1. To further investigate the management and planning of the content of initial teacher education particularly as this relates to the development effective classroom practices.

All four sub-themes addressed this issue. It was noted that successive Global Monitoring Reports had called for the reform of the content of initial teacher education to make it more practically relevant to the classroom tasks of the teacher. Yet, as the forum perceived the current situation, much pre-service content was orientated to the disciplines of education and associated theoretical positions without any connection to the key or core classroom skills and knowledge needed by beginning teachers. Such courses were also used in upgrading programmes for unqualified or under qualified teachers for whom the content appeared even more irrelevant.

The forum heard descriptions of courses where the practical component, that is experience in schools, was very small indeed. The comment was made that, in some parts of the world, governments were beginning to insist on a required and significant period of training in school. The move towards assessing the practical 'outcomes' of training was seen as one way of addressing this challenge and there was now significant global experience of this approach.

The reasons for the slow pace of change were considered. One suggestion in one sub-theme was that the staffing structure of colleges and universities matches the traditional teacher education curriculum; attempts to change this render some roles redundant and require new sets of skill and experience from teacher educators. In this context it was predictable that there would be resistance to change. It was observed that little attention was paid to the training of teacher educators. The forum felt that this was one of the key issues in the management of teacher education. Whilst respecting the need for each country to have autonomy in course and content design it was felt that the development of some criteria against which existing courses could be evaluated would be of value. Such criteria could also be used in the design of new courses and in reviewing the regulatory frameworks used in a number of countries. The dissemination of case studies of courses and programmes that gave an important place to 'competence in practice' was also considered. In one group the reflection was heard that in other professions, medicine and law were mentioned, practical work had an important role in training. Could teacher education replicate this?

Recommendation 2.To review the management and identification of the content and delivery of in-service teacher professional development programmes.

This issue was also considered in each group and was seen as a priority. For many participants professional development lacked coherence, with many teachers, particularly those in remote rural areas, having no access to support at all. There was a general acceptance that short courses away from school had little or no impact on classroom effectiveness although this continued to be the main approach used in many countries. In one sub-theme group participants were told of countries where 80% of the in-service budget went on buses and food. There was a strong interest in developing more diverse forms of professional development and accounts were given of effective supported school based modes of training. Accounts were also given of the way in which online resources could provide a basis for school based developments. The forum felt that the stronger articulation of such new approaches to professional development might both broaden access and lever up quality. It was noted that there were now sufficient examples, including those that had been described in the forum, to enable the drawing up of models or frameworks that could help policy makers in moving away from the course based approach.

Recommendation 3. To examine the diverse ways in which governments had successfully sought to manage and improve teacher recruitment and retention through interventions to improve working conditions and the general quality of professional life (including professional development).

A recurrent issue across the forum was the precarious, and for many, the deteriorating status of teachers. The data on teacher effectiveness showed that, in many countries, a large number of pupils were failing to meet even basic levels of literacy and numeracy. Teacher absenteeism was endemic in many countries. The forum heard that absentee rates were running at 25% or above in a number of countries. There appeared to be little attempt to address such problems through continuing professional development. In this context it is unsurprising that parental and community views of teachers were becoming increasingly negative. One participant described a workshop with children in south-east Asia where children created models of their ideal teacher. The top attribute was that the teacher would be present in the classroom. The second most important attribute, for these children, was that the teacher would be teaching them and not talking on a mobile phone.

The forum also accepted that the poor conditions in which many teachers worked was likely to lead to aberrant behaviour. The forum was interested in attempts across the world to address the problematic professional lives that many teachers led. It was suggested that the development of a record, even taxonomy, of the different strategies with proven effectiveness could be a useful guide for key stakeholders such as governmental and regional policy makers, private employers of teachers and teachers unions.

Recommendation 4. To examine the quality of the working and professional lives of women working in rural areas and the impact this has on their effectiveness and motivation.

The forum perceived the situation of women working in rural areas as one of the more potentially problematic teaching situations. It also noted that attracting teachers to work in rural areas was, for many countries, one of the major deployment challenges. The forum perceived this issue as having two dimensions. The first was the issue of making access to teaching a feasible and attractive option to women already living in rural areas. The second was making a move to a rural teaching post an acceptable option for women. These were a specific issue that had linkages with recommendation 3 above. In what ways could the professional lives of women teaching in rural areas be improved? What barriers to improvement currently exist? Do women in these situations have a voice? In what ways could initial training and continuing professional development programmes prepare women for teaching in rural schools?

Recommendation 5. To examine the impact of policy decisions about 'language of instruction' on teacher effectiveness and teacher motivation

There was considerable discussion of this issue, particularly in sub-theme 3. It was noted that most of the research and analysis had focussed on the impact of 'language of instruction' on pupil achievement. It was felt that for many teachers that the choice of language had a major impact on their professional lives. It would be of value, therefore, to explore those studies, where such exist, that adopt a teacher perspective on this issue.

Recommendation 6. To establish a data collection process that allows the monitoring of teacher recruitment, retention and education in ways comparable to that currently in place for pupil enrolment

The forum was impressed by the presentations by the UNESCO Institute for Statistics. It was noted that significant data already exists and that work is in hand to further improve and refine collection processes (for example in the area of qualified teacher status). This work was seen as of prime importance in national and international terms. It was thought that an annual reporting structure would allow the monitoring of trends and the use in specific policy areas (equity issues were one example quoted). Some participants commented that although the GMR's did address teacher issues this was not done in a systematic way year on year. The GMR's could be a useful forum for systematically tracking teacher issues.

Recommendation 7. To work with national governments to improve data collection and analyses at a national level comparable to that suggested in recommendation 6, such work it was recommended should extend to technical support in the development of national policies and strategies around all aspects of the work of teachers.

Managing all aspects of teacher policy, the forum believed, required a good foundation in data. Managing, for example, teacher upgrading programmes necessitates a firm grasp of the numbers involved, how these figures would evolve over time and the capacity of the training systems to respond. Many countries said they would welcome support in the rigorous collection of data and its use in the building of teacher policies and strategies.

Recommendation 8. To provide support to build, manage and implement teacher education programmes in Post-Conflict Post Disaster (PCPD) contexts.

The forum was greatly interested in the different accounts of actions to create forms of continuing professional development programmes that focused on the teacher role in PCPD situations. It was felt that this experience should be collected and analysed in a way that that would be of value to groups (Ministries, NGO's) who have to take on such responsibilities. Participants suggested that content frameworks and case study material could contribute to such guidance. It was also suggested that new forms of information and communication technologies might be exploited in imaginative ways in these contexts.

Recommendation 9. To set out proposals, in the context of recommendation 8, for structures of inter-agency management and co-operation in supporting teachers in PCPD situations

The forum had heard a number of accounts of the failings of co-operation between ministries and agencies responsible for supporting teachers in PCPD situations. The forum also heard accounts of systemic approaches to 'managing co-operation' that, if reformulated in terms of general advice and guidance, could be of considerable assistance to governments handling comparable situations in the future.

Recommendation 10. That the Task Force establish a dialogue with the research donor community to seek to make the issue of teachers and teacher education a much higher priority in the commissioning and funding of research addressing education and development.

Some participants were of the view that the funding of research into education and development in no way matched the very significant resources allocated to education by national governments and international aid agencies. The forum generally felt that research on teachers, particularly the challenges and problems discussed at this Kinshasa meeting, should be significantly enhanced. The establishment of a dialogue with key players in the funding of research would, it was felt, have the potential to (i) establish a much stronger conceptualisation of the nature of research about teachers and (ii) create, in the post 2015 context, a much stronger evidence base than currently exists.



PolicyDialogueForum

of the International Task Force on Teachers for EFA

The Management of Teacher Education- Trends in Policies and Practice: what works, why and for whom?

Programme

27-28 November 2013

Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC)

Organized by the International Task Force on Teacher for EFA and the Government of the Democratic Republic of Congo and UNESCO

With the support of BMZ Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development et Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH and Education International (EI).

6th Policy Dialogue Forum of the International Task Force on Teachers for EFA

The Management of Teacher Education – Trends in Policies and Practice: What works, why and for whom?

Kinshasa, DRC - 27th-28th November 2013

Programme

1. Theme

The Management of Teacher Education – Trends in Policies and Practice: what works, why and for whom?

2. Sub-themes

The forum is structured around four sub-themes:

- 1. Teacher education: structures, contents and outcomes
- 2. Attracting and retaining teachers
- 3. Equity and teacher education management
- 4. Teacher education management in Post-Conflict and Post- Disaster (PCPD) contexts

Each sub-theme will be addressed through the following perspectives:

- A policy-maker's perspective (e.g. country's experience in developing teacher education policy)
- A practitioner's perspective (e.g. the experience of a teacher, a teacher educator in relation to issues of teacher education management)
- A researcher's perspective: (e.g. theory, knowledge, evidence; case studies on the sub-theme)
- An organization's views: (e.g. lessons from supporting programmes related to the sub-theme a development agency or NGO)

3. Summary of Sessions

After the Opening Ceremony, participants will take part in Session 1, a plenary dedicated to the case of teacher education management in the Democratic Republic of Congo as related to the four sub-themes of the forum. Participants will break into four parallel groups by sub-theme and will remain with these thematic groups throughout the forum's sessions (sessions 2-5). Session 2 will involve 4 parallel panels of speakers who will examine each sub-theme from the proposed perspectives (practitioner, research, policy, organization).

Supported and guided by facilitators, subsequent sessions (3-5) on each sub-theme will:

Session 3) - Provide the opportunity for participants to address how the experience of DRC in teacher education management connects to the experiences shared by panellists in each of the four sub-themes;

Session 4) - Based on their knowledge and experience, participants will further analyse in each sub-theme - what works, why and for whom? This will take into account EFA goals and the role of teachers in the Post-2015 debates.

Session 5) - Based on sessions 4) and 5), participants will identify and synthesize key issues and trends and propose conclusions and recommendations for each sub-theme.

Session 5a:

Taking into account the above discussions and especially session 5), a small working session will be dedicated to the drafting of group reports by sub-theme which will be prepared by rapporteurs, facilitators and the lead consultant. These reports, to be presented in a plenary closing session, will collate and further synthesize the key issues and trends identified for each sub-theme as well as present conclusions and recommendations for action. Taking this into account, the Secretariat of the International Task Force on Teachers for EFA will prepare a plan of action to be presented and approved at the closing plenary session with all participants. Such plan will position conclusions and recommendations of the policy dialogue forum in the current post-2015 debate with attention to continuing the efforts to achieve EFA goals as relevant to teachers. This plan will also help to incorporate recommendations on teacher education management as relevant to the three main lines of action of the International Task Force on Teachers for EFA new strategic plan (2014-2016): advocacy and coordination with global initiatives; knowledge creation and sharing; country support.

Session 6: Plenary - Group Reports 1, 2

- 1. Teacher education: structures, content and outcomes (20 minutes)
- 2. Attracting and retaining teachers (20 minutes)

Questions/Answers (20 minutes)

Session 7: Plenary - Group Reports 3, 4

- 3. Equity and teacher education management (20 minutes)
- Teacher education management in Post-Conflict and Post- Disaster (PCPD) contexts (20 minutes)
 Questions/Answers (20 minutes)

Session 8: Closure

Adoption of recommendations and Action plan

Closing Ceremony

- International Task Force on Teachers for All: Co-chair
- Speech of Host country

4. Structure of Programme

	***	1000	1 – 27 November 2013			
8:00-8:45		Regi	stration of Participants			
8:45-9:15		Official Visits to the Exhibitions				
		Оре	ening Ceremony			
	Welcoming Speech Host (h Country Official (3mn)				
	HALL STORY OF THE PARKS AND ADDRESS TO STORY	e International Task For nair of the International	ce on Teachers for EFA, Task Force on Teachers fo	r EFA (10 min)		
		e 6 th Policy Dialogue For of the Secretariat of the		on Teachers for EFA (10 min)		
9:15 -10:15 (60min)	Word of Solidarity	- OIF (5 min)				
Salle Congo			the Director General) the Division for Teacher D	evelopment and Higher		
	Message from the Commissioner for Human Resources, Science and Technology of the African Union Commission (10 min) Opening Speech - Minister Maker Mwangu Famba, Ministry of Primary, Secondary and Professional Education of the Democratic Republic of Cong (20mn)					
10:15 -10:45			Coffee break			
	Session 1: Plenary					
	Management of			ur sub-themes of the forum		
10:45 –12:45 (120min) Salle Congo		Sub-theme 1: Prof. Kal Sub-theme 3: Gaby Ka	ndi: General Introduction bamba Sub-theme 2: Alb Iyembe Sub-theme 4: Mi Mme Francine Tshizanye	oert Udiekila		
(120min) Salle Congo	Mme ibangu	Sub-theme 1: Prof. Kal Sub-theme 3: Gaby Ka	bamba Sub-theme 2: Alb	oert Udiekila		
(120min) Salle Congo Moderator:	Mme ibangu	Sub-theme 1: Prof. Kal Sub-theme 3: Gaby Ka Synthesis:	bamba Sub-theme 2: Alb yembe Sub-theme 4: Mi	oert Udiekila		
(120min) Salle Congo Moderator:	Mme ibangu	Sub-theme 1: Prof. Kal Sub-theme 3: Gaby Ka	bamba Sub-theme 2: Alb yembe Sub-theme 4: Mi Mme Francine Tshizanye	oert Udiekila		
(120min) Salle Congo Moderator:	Mme ibangu	Sub-theme 1: Prof. Kal Sub-theme 3: Gaby Ka Synthesis:	bamba Sub-theme 2: Alb yembe Sub-theme 4: Mi Mme Francine Tshizanye	oert Udiekila		
(120min) Saile Congo Moderator: 12:45 – 14:30 14:30 –16:00 (90min)	Mme Ibangu Session 2: Pane Structures, Content & Outcomes	Sub-theme 1: Prof. Kal Sub-theme 3: Gaby Ka Synthesis: Is by Sub-themes Attracting & Retaining Teachers	bamba Sub-theme 2: Alt yyembe Sub-theme 4: Mi Mme Francine Tshizanye Lunch break Equity	Post-Conflict and Post- Disaster		
(120min) Saile Congo Moderator: 12:45 – 14:30	Mme Ibangu Session 2: Pane Structures, Content & Outcomes Salle: Kaassai 1 Mr. Muhammed	Sub-theme 1: Prof. Kal Sub-theme 3: Gaby Ka Synthesis: Ils by Sub-themes Attracting & Retaining Teachers Salle: Kassai 2	bamba Sub-theme 2: Alt yyembe Sub-theme 4: Mi Mme Francine Tshizanye Lunch break Equity Salle: Lubumbashi	Post-Conflict and Post- Disaster (PCPD) Salis: Conao 2		
(120min) Salle Congo Moderator: 12:45 – 14:30 14:30 – 16:00 (90min) Facilitator:	Mme Ibangu Session 2: Pane Structures, Content & Outcomes Salle: Kasssai 1 Mr. Muhammed Junaid	Sub-theme 1: Prof. Kall Sub-theme 3: Gaby Ka Synthesis: Is by Sub-themes Attracting & Retaining Teachers Salle: Kassai 2 Mr. Dennis Sinyolo	bamba Sub-theme 2: Alt lyembe Sub-theme 4: Mi Mme Francine Tshizanye Lunch break Equity Salle: Lubumbashi Mr. Gina These	Post-Conflict and Post- Disaster (PCPD) Solis: Congo 2 Mr. Arnoldo Nhavoto		

Time Day 2 – 28 November 2013				er 2013		
	Session 4: Analysis - What works, why and for whom?					
08:45 -10:15 (90min)	Structures, contents & outcomes	Attracting & Retaining Teachers	Equity	Post-Conflict and Post- Disaster (PCPD)		
10:15-10:45	Zamana na sana sa		Coffee break			
	Session 5: Synth	nesis - Key Issues	, trends - cond	clusions/recommendations		
10:45 -11:45 (60 min)	Structures, contents & outcomes	Attracting & Retaining Teachers	Equity	Post-Conflict and Post- Disaster (PCPD)		
11:45 – 13:00 (75 minutes)	(Session 5a - prep Rapporteurs & Facilitat Preparation of group re Task Force Secretariat:	ors: ports	Other participants: Networking Market Place	Market Place events: VSO international Humana People to People UNESCO institute of Statistics (UIS) World Library of Science - UNESCO		
13:00-14:00			Lunch Break			
14:00 - 15:00 (60 minutes)	(Session 5a - prep	aration) continuation				
	Session 6: Plena	ary – Group repor	rts			
15:00 –16:00 (60 min) Salle Congo Moderator	Group reports and disc. Structures, Contents & C Attracting and Retaining	Outcomes				
Rapporteurs						
	Cofflee break					
	Session 7: Plena	ry – Group repoi	rts			
16:30 -17:30 (60 min) Salle Congo	Group reports and disc. Equity Post-Conflict and Post-					
Moderator						
Rapporteurs	Session 8: Closu	ire				
17:30 – 18:00 (30min) Salle Congo	Adoption of recommend Closing Ceremony	dations and action plan				
Closing by	International Task Force	on Teachers for All: Co-c	hair			

List of Participants 6th Policy Dialogue Forum Kinshasa, DRC, 27-28 November 2013

Focal Points/Invitees

N°	Name and First name	Organisation	Country	e-mail
1	Conceição BENTO MENDES	ANGOLA/MED	Angola	munabentomendes@yaoo.fr
2	ALVARO ADMIRO	ANGOLA	Angola	alvadim55@hotmail.com
3	BAGOUDOU BAURO	MEMP/BENIN	Benin	bbauro@yahoo.fr
4	HOUEDO V. François	Ministère de l'EDUCATION Benin	Benin	houevefr@yahoo.fr
5	MASEBOLA Sir Wonder J.	Botswana	Botswana	smasebola@gov.bw
6	DILVO Ristoff	Ministry of Education brazil	Brazil	ristoff.dilvo@gmail.com; Dilvo.Ristoff@mec.gov.br
7	TAMBOURA Adama	MENA / BURKINA	Burkina Faso	tadama2003@yahoo.fr
8	NZOHABONAYO CORINTHE	Min Educ. Burundi	Burundi	korenta58@yahoo.fr
9	MVOGO Michel	Coordonnateur EPT/Cameroun	Cameroun	mmvogo01@yahoo.fr
10	GUEZEWANE PIKI Jonas	Ministère Education National de la RCA	Central Africa Republic	guezewane@yahoo.fr
11	Wang Yang	Conseiller Culturel AMB de Chine à Kinshasa	China	wangyang571@hotmail.com
12	Jean GOMA MANIONGUI	MES-CONGO	Congo Brazzaville	gomamaniongui@yahoo.fr
13	MEA KOUADIO	Ministère Education Nationale et Enseignement Technique Côte d'Ivoire	Côte d'Ivoire	mea_kouadio@hotmail.com
14	S.E.M Maker MWANGU FAMBAM	Ministere de l'Enseignement primaire, secondaire et professionnel RDC	DRC	
15	РЕТА КАУ	Commission Nationale pour l'UNESCO/RDC	DRC	fabienpeta@yahoo.fr
16	Isaac MBENZA MALONGA	EPSP/B.C1	DRC	isabelbcum@gmail.com
17	YOY BOKETE JEAN PIERRE	EPSP/EQUATEUR1	DRC	yoy.bokete@eduquepsp-cd
18	JEAN PIERRE SANGWA	IRC	DRC	jeanpierre.sangwa@rescue.org
19	Elgar BAG-MAYEL MURBAC	EPSP/IGE	DRC	balmuredy@live.fr
20	BODIL SEJERDE	HPP-CONGO	DRC	HPP-CONGO.BS@GBS.CO
21	KUNGA ONYUMBE	MINEPSP/DRI	DRC	francoiskunga@yahoo.fr
22	KABUNGAMA YUKA Expédit	DG-ISP/KINDU	DRC	kabungamayuka@yahoo.fr

23	Lokunda Ku Ekoly	C.F.C. EPSP/EQ	DRC	T .
24	Prof LAMBERT EKANGA	Prof à l'I.S.P KANANGA	DRC	dikete100@yahoo.fr
25	Michel Djamba	Inspection Générale EPSP	DRC	mutebue7@yahoo.fr
26	MUKEBA MULAMBA	I.S.P/MBUJIMAYI	DRC	1
27	FITA MBIYAVANGA Théophile	ISP/GOMBE	DRC	fitambiyavanga@yahoo.fr
28	LUMASSA MIYANGA J.P	MAS/DGENF	DRC	jplumassa@yahoo.fr
29	TSHIZANYE Francine	ISAM	DRC	frantshiz@yahoo.fr
30	PILIPILI MICHEL	DIV PROV EPSP SUD- KIVU	DRC	muzepiliîli@yahoo.fr
31	SERAPHIN MANDA	SY.E.CO/RDC	DRC	seraphinmanda@gmail.com
32	MAKEKA ma NKANGA	ISP MBANZA NGUNGU	DRC	mahelafideke@yahoo.fr
13	SHIMUNA VALENTINE	FE NECO	DRC	
4	NUNAKUMY YVETTE	C.C.E.P.T	DRC	yvettemunakumy@gmail.com
35	Kabamba Palata	Universite Pedagogique Nationale	DRC	kabpal@yahoo.fr
86	Mbaya Kashala	Ministere de Aff Socials RDC	DRC	jbmbayak@gmail.com
37	Prof. Pierre KITA MASANDI	Primature	DRC	kitamasandi@primature.cd
38	Prof. Manda KIZABI	Delegation Permanente RDC/UNESCO	DRC	mandakizabi@yahoo.fr
39	Mbemba Malonga	EPSA/BASCONGO1	DRC	izabelbcun@gmail.com
ю	Ebengo Makoke	Commission Nationale UNESCO	DRC	ecept2@yahoo.fr
11	Peta Kay	Commission Nationale UNESCO	DRC	fabienfeta@yahoo.fr
12	Prof. Pierre MUKENDI	Universite de Kinshasa RDC	DRC	pierre_mukendi@yahoo.fr
13	Jean Pierre Yoy Bokete	EPSP/Equateur 1	DRC	yoy.bokete@eduquepsp.cd
4	BANZA ILUNGA	SYNDICAT - KATANGA	DRC	guillaumebanza@go.fr
15	MASANGA VUBU (BOBUNDA)	Ministère de la Jeunesse	DRC	
16	MAFUTA BAL NSIEN GODE	Affaires Etrangères	DRC	
7	KIBAL MUKUMPUM	Minist. Affaires Etrangères	DRC	rodainkibal@yahoo.fr
18	OLIVIER CHIBASHIMBA	CORDAID/PAYS BAS	DRC	olivier.chibashimba@cordaid.net
19	LOSAKO OLONGO René	CPE/ESURS/RDCongo	DRC	lokasorene@yahoo.fr
0	IRENE MPIANA	Digital Congo	DRC	irenempiana@gmail.fr
51	KITUNGWA PUNGU	Com. Nat. Unesco/Rd- Congo	DRC	fkitungwa@yahoo.fr

52	MUSEMBO MUKILANGO	Com. Nat. Unesco/Rd- Congo	DRC	musembomuk@yahoo.fr
53	NESTOR NTUMBA	EPSP / KANANGA	DRC	ntumbandoyenestor@yahoo.fr
54	PROSPER MUZINGA	APEP	DRC	prospermuzi@yahoo.fr
55	ALI KABENGELE	CONEPT / RDCONGO	DRC	kabengele56@gmail.com
56	ASANI MUHIYA Antoine	PROVED / MANIEMA	DRC	asani.antoine@gmail.com
57	KENSEKA JOSEPH	DIR EPT / EPSP	DRC	jnkenseka@yahoo.fr
58	MVOHAGALA BAZIBUHE	Inspect. EPSP/Nord- Kivu	DRC	5
59	NICOLAS NYANGE KAYOMBE BIZY	Inspect. EPSP/KATANGA	DRC	inspectionepsp@yahoo.fr
60	SWAKU JOSE	Ministère du Plan	DRC	mukelengejojo@yahoo.fr
61	BIRERE CELESTIN	Ministère du Plan	DRC	celestinbirere@yahoo.fr
62	FERNAND RUBIN	Ministère de l'EPSP	DRC	muhagifernand@yahoo.fr
63	UDIEKILA ALBERT	Expert / ISPT-KIN/RDC	DRC	albertudiekila@gmail.com
64	LEON MALOANI MOKA	Expert / MINEPSP/SECOPE	DRC	maloanimoka@yahoo.fr
65	RICHARD BWANGO Tdi	Proved / Bandundu	DRC	richard.bwango@yahoo.fr
66	Guy MAFUTA	Ministère de l'Education	DRC	5
67	YEYE LOFULIA	Com. Nat. Unesco/Rd- Congo	DRC	lofyeye@gmail.com
68	GEORGES MUSAFIRI	Chamber of commerce, DRC	DRC	gkabenga@yahoo.com
69	MUSEMBO MUKILANGO	COMNAT/RDC	DRC	musembomuk@yahoo.fr
70	GABY KAYEMBE	Ministère des Affaires Sociales RDC	DRC	kayembe_gabi@yahoo.fr
71	LUBANZADIO KETHO	DGENF/MAS	DRC	alberthoketo@yahoo.fr
72	MBOMA BONAVENTURE	COMNAT/RDC	DRC	mambomunsans@yahoo.fr
73	PROF TSHIPAMBA DIKAMBA	Université Pédagogique Nationale	DRC	jpdikat@yahoo.fr
74	AFUNDI NDETSHALA DIDI	ESU/RDC	DRC	
75	KASONGO KILE WA NGOY	COMNAT/RDC	DRC	kaskile@hotmail.com
76	Annie KENDA	Ministère du genre, famille et enfant	DRC	annitakenda@hotmail.com
77	N'GUIZANI Stéphane	Syndicat	DRC	stephanenguizani@yahoo.fr
78	Jacques CIRIMWAMI	Syndicat des Enseignants	DRC	syndicatsksynecat@yahoo.fr
79	Hélène LUWANGU	COMNAT/RDC, délégué	DRC	
80	KABEYA MWADIA -MVITA	COMNAT/RDC	DRC	kabeyamwadianvita@hotmail.fr
81	Pascaline ONAKATA	Ministère de la Jeunesse	DRC	omumupassy@yahoo.fr
82	Simon MOKILI PASI	BOSILAITO/IFCEPS/KISA NGANI	DRC	

83	Dieudonné LYONGO	ISP/KIS	DRC	
84	Prof NGOYI MUEPU	I.J.C.C.I	DRC	ngoyinml@yahoo.fr
85	ODIMULA Pierre	MAS/ED.En URGENCE RDC	DRC	podimula@yahoo.fr
86	Narcisse KALENGA	IFADEM/KATANGA(AUF-OIF)	DRC	narcisse.kalenga@auf.org
87	Jean Claude IKWA	Expert en ETFP RDC/CTB	DRC	siluje@yahoo.fr
88	WASSO MUKELENGE	ISDR-BUKAVU	DRC	wassomwkelenge@gmail.com
89	Salomon SUDI KATAMEA	SYECO/NORD-KIVU	DRC	syeconordkivu01@yahoo.fr
90	MAHUNGU Clément	MJSCA	DRC	cepaclemahu@gmail.com
91	MPANZU LOUIS	EPSP	DRC	louis_mpanzu@yahoo.com
92	TUMBA NZUJI Augustin	FENECO/UNTC	DRC	fenescosyndic@yahoo.fr
93	Christophe MUTOKAMBALI	ISP/MASISI(ESURS)	DRC	cmutokambali@yahoo.fr
94	Patrick WENDA	Prof/UNIKIS	DRC	pawetshi@yahoo.fr
95	MAKAYA SAMBA Béatrice	ISP/GOMBE/ESURS	DRC	beatricemakaya@gmail.com
96	WEISENHOKN Nina	Internation Rescue Committee	DRC	nina.weisenhovu@rescue.org
97	TSANGALA Jovin	Ministère de l'Education nationale	DRC	joemukadi2005@yahoo.fr
98	Bodel SEJEROE	HPP-CONGO	DRC	hpp-CONGO.BS@GBS.CO
99	NGOY – FIAMA BITAMBILE	Université de LUBUMBASHI	DRC	nfiamab@yahoo.fr
100	FRIDOLIN MVE MESSA	SENA / GABON	Gabon	senagab23@yahoo.fr
101	RUI LANDIM	Guiné-Bissau	Guine- Bissau	landimrui@yahoo.com
102	NENE FATOU DIALLO	Ministère de l'Education	Guinée	diallonenefatou@yahoo.fr
103	Anamika Singh	MHRD INDIA	India	anamicasingh@gurati.com
104	PUSPITAWATI POPPY	Minitry of Education and Culture Indonesia	Indonesia	poppy.dewi@kemdikbud.go.id
105	Haggith Gor Ziv	Kibutzim college of education	Israel	haggithgor@gmail.com
106	WINSOME GORDON	JAMAICA TEACHING	Jamaica	winsome.gordon@moey.gov.jm; gordon_winsome@yahoo.com
107	Margaret N. Murage	Ministry of Education Science and Technology/Kenya	Kenya	muragemargaret06@yahoo.fr
108	Prof LEMBAGUS ALO PIERROCELESM	KENYA	Kenya	
109	Baba Diabe DOUMBIA	MALI	MALI	doumbia_diabe@yahoo.fr
110	Feliciano MAHALAMBE	MOE-MOZAMBIQUE	Mozambiq ue	Feliciano.Mahalambe@mined.gov.mz
111	Adelheid M. Awases	Ministre d'Education	Namibia	adelawases@gmail.com

112	KALILOU TAHIROU	Min. Ed. Niger	Niger	tahiroukalilou2@yahoo.fr
113	DANKERT VEDELER	Min. of Foreign Aff.	Norway	d.vedeler.no@unesco- delegations.org
114	BADRYA AL-NADABI	Ministry of education OMAN	Oman	b.nadabi22@hotmail.com
115	Abdoulaye DIATTA	DFC/MEN Senegal	Senegal	laydiatta@gmail.com
116	ENOCH RABOTAPI	Dept of Basic Educatilon, South Africa	South Africa	Rabotapi.t@dbe.gov.za
117	VALENTINO N. GANGE	Ministry of Education	Tanzania	valgange@yahoo.co.uk
118	LAWSON Boèvi Dedzi	MEPS-TOGO	Togo	gedlawson61@yahoo.fr
119	Joseph Eilor	Ministry of Education & Sports UGANDA	Uganda	eilor@usa.net
120	MAJID NKUUTU Kibedi	Ministry of Education and Sports	Uganda	kibediabdul@yahoo.com

	ORGANISATIONS			
N°	Name and First name	Organisation	Country	e-mail
121	Mutale MUSONDA	ACDE	Kenya	mutale1954@gmail.com
122	HAMIDOU BOUKARY	ADEA		H.BOUKARY@AFDB.ORG
123	Nazar Eltahir	African Union	Ethiopia	Eltahirn@africa-union.org
124	ASSE Christian	Agence Française de Développement CTB		christian.asse@yahoo.fr
125	GADO ABOUBACAR SIDIKOU	CAPEFA-NIGER	Nigeria	Sidikabu07@yahoo.fr
126	Patrick ALUMA KOGOLLA	CEMASTEA	Kenya	pkogolla@gmail.com
127	FLORENCE MALINGA	Commonwealth Secrétariat	UK	f.malinga@commonwealth.int
128	VERONICA HOFMEESTER	Council Ministry of Education	South Africa	vjahofmeester@yahoo.com
129	Martial IKOUNGA	Commissioner for Human Resources, Science and Technology of the African Union	Ethiopia	lkoungaM@africa.union.org
130	Didier NIKI-NIKI	DFID		d-niki@dfid.gov.uk
131	ED BARNETT	DFID	UK	E-Barnett@dfid.gov.uk
132	ALESSANDRO Ricoveri	EC Brussels	Belgium	Alessandro.RICOVERI@ext.ec.europa. eu
133	Katja Steures	EC, Brussels	Belgium	kasga.scuser@ec.europa.ec
134	ABEN NGAY	EDC/USAID	3 11 11 11	angay@edc.org
135	Dennis Sinyolo	Education International	Belgium	Dennis.Sinyolo@ei-ie.org
136	NGOUA NGOU Samuel	EDUCATION INTERNATIONAL		samuelngouangou@ei-ie.org

137	Assibi NAPOE	EI AFRICA		Assibi.Napoe@ei.ie.org
138	SHETA CASEHI SONA	EPSP/SENAFOR		rgaseshi@yahoo.fr
139	NWOKEOCHA Steve	Executive Director Africa Forum of Teaching Regulatory Authorities (AFTRA)	Nigeria	drsteve44@yahoo.com
140	Diebel Erfan	GIZ	Germany	erfan.diebel@giz.de
141	Alice Benquet	Humana People to People	Spain	alice.benquet@humana-spain.org
142	JESPER WOHLERT	HUMANA PEOPLE TO PEOPLE	Spain	jesper.wohlert@humana.org; jdw@humana-spain.org
143	Bob MOON	International Consultant	UK	Bob.Moon@open.ac.uk
144	Lesley ABRAHAMS	JET EDUCATION	South Africa	labrahams@jet.org.za
145	Atsushi MATACHI	JICA	Japan	matachi.ke@smasewecsa.org
146	Paul CONSTATIN	OIF	France	constantinp@jouomaphone.org; paul- frederic.constantin@francophonie .org
147	SAMUEL FENYANE	SADTU	South Africa	sfenyane@sadtu.org.za
148	Claude BUELONGO	SAVE THE CHILDREN		c.buelongo@savethechildren.org.uk
149	TWEHEYO JAMES	UNATU-UGANDA	Uganda	twehe_james@yahoo.fr;
150	BRANDT CYRIL	Université d'Amsterdam	3 11	cyrioh@yahoo.com
151	Thésée Gina	Université du Québec à Montréal	Canada	thesee.gina@uqam.ca
152	Therese Tchombe	Univesity of Buea	Cameroun	tmtchombe@yahoo.co.uk
153	Monique MUJINGA	USAID/EDUCATION		mmujinga@usaid.gov
154	Lachlan Mackinnon	VARKEY GEMS FOUNDATION	UAE	lachlan.mackinnon@gemseducation. com
155	Dieynaba Diallo Wade	VSO	Gambia	Dieynada.Wade@vsoint.org
156	Purna Kumar Shrestha	VSO	UK	Purna.Shrestha@vso.org.uk

UNESCO

N°	Name and First name	Organisation	Country	e-mail
157	Olivier LABE	UNESCO INSTITUTE FOR STATISTICS	Canada	o.labe@unesco.org
158	Augustin BIKALE	UNESCO RDC	DRC	a.bikale@unesco.org
159	DIALLO Abdourahaman	UNESCO RDC	DRC	a.diallo@unesco.org
160	Dorothée Kalanga	UNESCO RDC	DRC	d.kalanga@unesco.org
161	Freddy KABALA	UNESCO RDC	DRC	f.kabala_mbayi@unesco.org
162	SAYAKA USUI	UNESCO RDC	DRC	susui@unicef.org
163	Paul MPAYIMANA	UNESCO/Addis Abeba	Ethiopia	p.mpayimana@unesco.org
164	ARNALDO NHAVOTO	UNESCO-IICBA	Ethiopia	a.nhavoto@unesco.org

165	Yuxin DENG	UNESCO/ED/BLV	France	y.deng@unesso.org
166	ATCHOARENA David	UNESCO/ED/THE	France	
167	Hilaire MPUTU	UNESCO/ED/THE	France	h.mputu@unesco.org
168	BARBARA TOURNIER	IIEP-UNESCO	France	b.tournier@unesco.org
169	JALLOW Saïdou Sireh	UNESCO Abuja	Nigeria	
170	ADOTEVI Adoté -BAH	UNESCO DAKAR	Senegal	ab.adotevi@unesco.org
171	KOUAK TIYAB Beifth	Pole DAKAR UNESCO DAKAR	Senegal	b.kouak-tiyab@unesco.org
172	Charles OBIERO	UNESCO/UGANDA	Uganda	c.obiero@unesco.org

SECRETARIAT OF THE TASK FORCE ON TEACHERS FOR EFA

N°	Name and First name	Position	Country	e-mail
173	ADUBRA Edem	Chef du Secretariat de l'Equipe internationale sur les enseignants pour l'EPT, UNESCO	France	e.adubra@unesco.org
174	BELALCAZAR Carolina	Programme specialist, Task Force	France	c.belalcazar@unesco.org
175	DIAGNE Aminatou	Programme specialist, Task Force	France	a.diagne@unesco.org
176	IRYANTI Puji	Loaned Expert, Task Force	France	p.iryanti@unesco.org

EXHIBITORS

N°	Name and First name	Organisation	Country	e-mail
177	Nana-Marie YOMBO- TSHIMANGA	ISAM - Kinshasa	8	
178	Emanuel BUGHA MENI	ISAM - Kinshasa		
179	Hugo KASONGA KASONGA	UPN		
180	Emile NSAKWEN MUTSHOS	Formateur CCE - Kinshasa		
181	Jean-Marie NYAMUDIGI	ISPT-Kinshasa	S	imnyms@yahoo.fr
182	James LUYINAULA	ISPT-Kinshasa		jamesluyinaula@gmail.com
183	Mamie-Alice OKOTO	LSP - Gombe		mamiechalce@gmail.com
184	John Ramazami	LSP - Gombe		The state of the s
185	Papy Boteni	ISP - Gombe	(

JOURNALISTS AND TELEVISION CREWS

Nº	Name and First name	Organisation	Country	e-mail
186	Anasthasie DUMBU	RTNC	(3	
187	Blaise ZAHINDA	Digital Congo	3	
188	Rose AWASI GUIDIAYI	Tele 7		
189	Dieu MERCI NZOB	AA		

190	PAMPHIL	Rtg@		
191	Toutou KALONJI	B-One		
192	Clara	CCTV		
193	THIERRY	Tele50		
194	Elisée ODIA	CONGO WEB	0	
195	Guilain	RTNC 2		ì
196	Bobette	Agence Galaxy Média		
197	Mamie TSHELA	Radio Top-Congo	(3	
198	Flore NDEKE	KIN 24		
199	Nadine NTOTO	RTNC/LANGUES NAT		
200	Sapu KAZADI SAKAZ	Le Phare	2	
201	Rombaut	Observateur		
202	Nestor CIMANGA	ACP		
203	N'Lunda N'Sila	Le Potentiel	-83	
204	Gode KALONJI	Tempête des Tropiques		
205	Honoré MUBENGA	APA	j	Í
206	Donat Madimba	Radio Okapi	152	